
- over - 

AGENDA FOR 

BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES 
REGULAR MEETING 

 

Elkhart Community Schools 
Elkhart, Indiana 

 

March 12, 2019 
 

CALENDAR 
 

Mar 12 5:30 p.m. Public Work Session, J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

Mar 12 7:00 p.m. Regular Board Meeting, J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

Mar 19 7:00 a.m. Public Work Session, J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

Mar 26 7:00 p.m. Regular Board Meeting, J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

Apr  9 7:00 p.m. Regular Board Meeting, J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

Apr 16 7:00 a.m. Public Work Session, J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

Apr 23 7:00 p.m. Regular Board Meeting, J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

 

******************* 

A. CALL TO ORDER 
 

B. THE ELKHART PROMISE 

 
C. INVITATION TO SPEAK PROTOCOL 

 

D. SUPERINTENDENT’S STUDENT ADVISORY COUNCIL REPRESENTATIVES 
Memorial High School 
Central High School 

 
E. STUDENT RECOGNITION 

All-State Honor Choir Students 

 
F. SPECIAL RECOGNITION 

Distinguished Support Staff Awards 
 

G. MINUTES 
February 21, 2019 - Work Session/Retreat 

February 22, 2019 - Work Session/Retreat 
February 26, 2019 – Regular Board Meeting 

 

H. TREASURER'S REPORT 
 

 Consideration of Claims 

 
 Gift Acceptance - The administration recommends Board acceptance with 

appreciation of recent donations made to Elkhart Community Schools. 

 
 Fundraisers - The Business Office recommends Board approval of proposed 

school fundraisers in accordance with Board Policy. 



BOARD AGENDA March 12, 2019 
 
 

2 
   

 Extra Curricular Purchase - The Business Office seeks Board approval of an 
extra-curricular purchase request. 

 
 Energy Education Update 

 

 Bid Award – The Business Office recommends Board approval of the final 
bid award for the Diesel Technology building. 
 

I. NEW BUSINESS 
 

 Special Education Federal Grant Funding Report 

 
 Update on High Ability Program Plan 

 

 Board Policy 3422.12S – Employees in Miscellaneous Positions 
Compensation Plan – The administration presents proposed revisions to 
Board Policy 3422.12S – Employees in Miscellaneous Positions 

Compensation Plan, and asks to waive 2nd reading. 
 

 Board Policy 3422.06S – Secretarial/Business Compensation Plan – The 

administration presents proposed revisions to Board Policy 3422.06S – 
Secretarial/Business Compensation Plan, and asks to waive 2nd reading. 

 
 Board Policy 3141ACS – Suspension of Employees – The administration 

presents revisions to Board Policy 3141ACS – Suspension of Employees, for 

initial consideration. 
 

 Administrative Regulation GCS – Procedure for Suspension – The 

administration presents proposed new Administrative Regulation GCS – 
Procedure for Suspension, for initial consideration. 

 
 Administrative Regulation IGBB – Procedures for Identifying and Serving 

High Ability Students – The administration presents proposed revisions to 
Administrative Regulation IGBB – Procedures for Identifying and Serving 
High Ability Students, for initial consideration. 

 
 Board Policy 6460 – Conflicts of Interest and Vendor Relations – The 

administration presents revisions to Board Policy 6460 – Conflicts of 

Interest and Vendor Relations, for initial consideration. 

 
 Grants – The administration seeks Board approval for the submission of 

grants as recommended by the administration. 

 
 Overnight Trip Requests - The administration seeks Board approval of 

overnight trip requests. 

 
J. PERSONNEL 

 

 Conference Leaves - It is recommended the Board grant conference leave 
requests in accordance with Board Policy to staff members as recommended 
by the administration. 

 



BOARD AGENDA March 12, 2019 
 
 

3 
   

 Certified and Classified Staff - See the report and recommendations of the 
administration. 

 
K. INFORMATION AND PROPOSALS 

 

 From Audience 
 

 From Superintendent and Staff 

 
 From Board 

 

L. ADJOURNMENT 
 



MINUTES OF THE 
PUBLIC WORK SESSION/RETREAT 

OF THE 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES 

 

Elkhart Community Schools 
Elkhart, Indiana 

 
February 21, 2019 

 

J.C. Rice Educational Services Center, 2720 California Road, Elkhart – at 
12:00 p.m. 
 

Place/Time 

Board Members Douglas K. Weaver Babette S. Boling 

Present: Kellie L. Mullins Susan C. Daiber 

 Carolyn R. Morris Rodney J. Dale 

  Roscoe L. Enfield, Jr. 

   

ECS Personnel    

Present: Steven Thalheimer  
   
   

 

Roll Call 

The Board held their annual review of the Strategic Plan and discussed the 

district’s vision in conjunction with the Plan. 
 
Superintendent, Dr. Steven Thalheimer, presented his observations from 

meetings with administrators and tours of various building.   
 

Topics 

Discussed 

The meeting adjourned at approximately 4:00 p.m. 

 

Adjournment 

APPROVED: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Douglas K. Weaver, President 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Kellie L. Mullins, Vice President 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Carolyn R. Morris, Secretary 

 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Babette S. Boling, Member 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Susan C. Daiber, Member 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Rodney J. Dale, Member 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Roscoe L. Enfield, Jr., Member 

 

 
 

Signatures 

 



MINUTES OF THE 
PUBLIC WORK SESSION/RETREAT 

OF THE 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES 

 

Elkhart Community Schools 
Elkhart, Indiana 

 

February 22, 2019 
 

J.C. Rice Educational Services Center, 2720 California Road, Elkhart – at 

12:00 p.m. 
 

Place/Time 

Board Members Douglas K. Weaver Babette S. Boling 

Present: Kellie L. Mullins Susan C. Daiber 

 Carolyn R. Morris Rodney J. Dale 

  Roscoe L. Enfield, Jr. 

   

ECS Personnel  Cary Anderson Dawn McGrath 

Present: Tony England Brad Sheppard 
 Tony Gianesi Steven Thalheimer 

 

Roll Call 

The Board heard the following presentations:  Tony Gianesi, chief operating 

officer, provided an overview of construction projects and the 20-year 
maintenance plan; Dr. Brad Sheppard, assistant superintendent of 
instruction, prioritizing for student success; Doug Thorne, chief of staff, and 

Cary Anderson, principal at Memorial High School, presented on-going plans 
for the one high school and schools of study; and Tony England, assistant 

superintendent of student services, and Dr. Dawn McGrath, director of 
special services, presented an update on alternative education for K- 8 and 
high ability. 

 
Superintendent, Dr. Steven Thalheimer, discussed the status of the 
Strategic Plan moving forward.   

 

Topics 

Discussed 

The meeting adjourned at approximately 4:30 p.m. 
 

Adjournment 

APPROVED: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Douglas K. Weaver, President 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Kellie L. Mullins, Vice President 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Carolyn R. Morris, Secretary 

 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Babette S. Boling, Member 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Susan C. Daiber, Member 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Rodney J. Dale, Member 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Roscoe L. Enfield, Jr., Member 

 

 
 
Signatures 

 



MINUTES 
OF THE REGULAR MEETING 

OF THE BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES 
 

Elkhart Community Schools 
Elkhart, Indiana 

February 26, 2019 
 

North Side Middle School, 300 Lawrence Street, Elkhart – at 5:00 p.m. 
 

Place/Time 

Board Members Douglas K. Weaver Babette S. Boling 
Present: Kellie L. Mullins Susan C. Daiber 
 Carolyn R. Morris Rodney J. Dale 

  Roscoe L. Enfield, Jr. 
   
   

 

Roll Call 

President Doug Weaver called the regular meeting of the Board of School 
Trustees to order. 
 

Call to 
Order 

Superintendent, Dr. Steven Thalheimer, recited the Elkhart Promise. The Elkhart 
Promise 

Mr. Weaver discussed the invitation to speak protocol. 
 

 

By unanimous action, the Board approved the February 12, 2019 Regular 
Board Meeting minutes. 

 

Approval of 
Minutes 

By unanimous action, the Board approved payment of claims totaling 
$4,990,560.55 as shown on the February 26, 2019, claims listing.  
(Codified File 1819-113) 

 

Payment of 
Claims 

By unanimous action, the Board accepted with appreciation the following 
donations made to Elkhart Community Schools (ECS):  $3,100 from the 

Elkhart Kiwanis Club to assist with the purchase of platform swings for 
the elementary schools; monthly donations of 18 cases of healthy 
snacks to Roosevelt STEAM Academy and Pierre Moran students who 

participate in the 21st Century Community Learning Center Before/After 
School program from The Snack Box – Phillip Shank; $327.70 from an 
anonymous donor to Food Services to pay negative balances at 

Pinewood, North Side and Memorial; and $1,000 from the Elkhart 
Education Foundation to Eastwood for winning the 2018 Ugly Sweater 
Run school contest by having the most race participants. 

 

Gift Acceptance 

By unanimous action, the Board accepted with appreciation a donation 
from the estate of Barbara Wich.  Kevin Scott, chief financial officer, 

stated Ms. Wich taught kindergarten at Cleveland for two years in the 
late 1960’s.  Ameriprise Financial will process a payment to ECS in an 
amount approaching $40,000 once the proper documentation is in place.  

In response to Board inquiry regarding the use of the funds, Mr. Scott 
stated there will be a review of potential one time, unique uses for this 
generous gift. 

Donation 
Acceptance 



2 
 

The Board received a financial report from Mr. Scott for the period 
January 1 – January 31, 2019, and found it to be in order. 

 

Financial Report 

Mr. Scott provided a list of checks that have been outstanding for over 
two years as of December 31, 2018.  Per Indiana Code, the listing must 

be provided as an informational item to the Board in order for the 
checks to be eligible to be voided.  (Codified File 1819-114) 
 

Disposition of 
Outstanding 

Checks 

By unanimous action, the Board adopted a resolution regarding the 
Fourth Amendment to Lease. This action is the first step by the Board in 
the process of securing financing for the Engineering, Technology 

Innovation building.  (Codified File 1819-115) 
 

Resolution re 
Fourth 
Amendment to 

Lease 
 

By unanimous action, the Board approved proposed school fundraisers 

in accordance with Board policy.  The funds raised through the listed 
activities are deposited into each school’s extra-curricular fund. (Codified 
File 1819-116) 

 

Fundraisers 

 

Mr. Scott provided the current insurance report stating claims are down 
from the same time last year. 

Monthly 
Insurance 

Report 
 

By unanimous action, the Board approved the submission of a grant to 
the Indiana Department of Education for a Digital Learning Grant from 
the district in the amount of $50,000.  (Codified File 1819-117) 

 

Grant 
Submission 
 

By unanimous action, the Board confirmed the following trip requests:  
Central boys swim team to travel to Indianapolis, IN on February 22-23, 

to participate in the swimming and diving state competition; and 14 
Central wrestlers to travel to Indianapolis on February 15–16 to attend 
the state meet. 

 

Overnight Trip 
Requests 

By unanimous action, the Board approved conference leave requests in 
accordance with Board policy for staff members as recommended by the 

administration on the February 26, 2019 listings.  (Codified File 1819-
118) 
 

Conference 
Leave Requests 

By unanimous action, the Board approved the following personnel 
recommendations of the administration: 
 

Personnel 
Report 

Agreements regarding unpaid time for three certified staff 
members. (Codified Files 1819-119) 
 

Consent 
Agreements 
 

Change to maternity leave for certified staff member, Ashley Perez, 
kindergarten at Beardsley, beginning 11/28/18 and ending 6/6/19. 
 

Certified Leave 

Resignation of certified staff member, Lisa Milanese, physical 
education and special education at Central, effective 2/21/19. 

Certified 
Resignation 
 

 



3 
 

Employment of the following five (5) classified employees who have 
successfully completed their probationary period on dates 

indicated: 
Marianne Glick - food service at Memorial, 2/21/19 
Annabel Guerrero - paraprofessional at Eastwood, 2/20/19 

Christopher Hipsher - paraprofessional at Beck, 2/22/19 
Nicole Sparr - food service at Commissary, 2/14/19 
Andrea Yeager - paraprofessional at Hawthorne, 2/21/19 
 

Classified 
Employment 

 

Resignation of the following three (3) classified employees effective 

on the dates indicated: 
Alice Breedlove - bus driver at Transportation, 1/21/19 
Jill Gude - paraprofessional at Eastwood, 2/14/19 

Melinda Riley - parent liaison at Roosevelt, 3/1/19 
 

Classified 

Resignation 
 

Retirement of classified employee, Jeffry Watson, assistant 

supervisor at Building Services, effective 3/29/19 with 19 years of 
service. 
 

Classified 

Retirement 

Leave for classified employee Ellen Springer, food service at 
North Side, beginning 2/8/19 and ending 4/8/19. 

 

Classified 
Leave 

Superintendent Thalheimer commented how saddened the community is 
with the recent loss of two students. Dr. Thalheimer noted how the 
community has been supporting the families and schools affected and 

the multitude of resources made available, all factors that reaffirm the 
positive and caring environment within the district.  Dr. Thalheimer 
thanked the Board for their time spent at the two-day retreat last week, 

and noted the upcoming meetings scheduled to discuss the direction of 
the strategic plan. 

 

From the 
Superintendent 
 

Board member, Babette Boling, also stated how extraordinary the staff 
has been in regards to the recent tragedies.  Mrs. Boling also stated how 

heartwarming it has been to see the outpouring of support from 
individuals, Ryan’s Place, and the community, all helping with the needs 
of the families including donations toward funeral expenses. 

 

From the Board 
 

Board secretary, Carolyn Morris, asked for clarification on the Board’s 
legislative liaison.  The Board will discuss the appointment at a future 

meeting. 
 

From the Board 

Board member, Rocky Enfield, reported he received a packet of letters 

from sixth graders at Pinewood regarding the one high school mascot.  
The letters are available for Board review. 
 

From the Board 

Board president, Doug Weaver, reported his attendance at the ETHOS 
Engineers Society dinner last evening, commending Patsy Boehler and 
Teresa Hill on the success of event. 

 

From the Board 
 

  



4 
 

The meeting adjourned at approximately 5:35 p.m. 
 

Adjournment 

APPROVED: 
 
  ____________________________________ 

  Douglas K. Weaver, President 
 
 

  ____________________________________ 
  Kellie L. Mullins, Vice President 
 

 
  ____________________________________ 
  Carolyn R. Morris, Secretary 

 
 

____________________________________ 

  Babette S. Boling, Member 
 
 

____________________________________ 
  Susan C. Daiber, Member 

 
 

____________________________________ 

  Rodney J. Dale, Member 
 
 

____________________________________ 
  Roscoe L. Enfield, Jr., Member 

Signatures 

 











 

INTERNAL MEMO 

 
J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

2720 California Road • Elkhart, IN 46514 

 

 

 

 

To:   dr. steven thalheimer 

  board of school trustees 

   

From: kevin scott 

 
Date:  march 12, 2019 

 

Subject/  extra curricular purchase 

The Business Office recommends Board approval of purchase of the following items from 
extra-curricular funds: 
 
SCHOOL/ACCOUNT       ITEM           AMOUNT 

 
 

Pierre Moran Middle School  Lanyards                      $885.00 

Extra Curricular Account          

  

  

 

 

 
 









 

 

 

 

 

March 6, 2019 

 

TO:   Elkhart Community Schools Board of School Trustees 

 Dr. Steve Thalheimer 

 

RE: High Ability Program Update 

 

 

As required in IC 20-36-2-2,  “A governing body shall develop and periodically update a local plan to 

provide appropriate educational experiences to high ability students in the school corporation in 

kindergarten through grade 12…” 

 

Toward that end, I submit to you an updated high ability program plan for your review.  The last 

review occurred during the winter of 2016 when the identification process was improved to include 

objective instrumentation.  Significant in this update is the establishment of the eligibility cut score 

as discussed at the public work session on February 22, 2019. 

 

Thank you for your consideration. 

 

 

 



policy 

 
 

BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.12S/page 1 of 15 
 

EMPLOYEES IN MISCELLANEOUS POSITIONS COMPENSATION PLAN 

 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage schedule for 
Employees to be effective for February 12March 12, 2019.  In addition, the three 
percent (3%) employee contribution to PERF will be paid by Elkhart Community 
Schools. 

POSITION HOURLY 
 WAGE RANGE 

Assistant Supervisor of Transportation 23.54 – 29.07 

Transportation Trainer/Dispatcher 19.61 – 22.92 

Food Service Truck Driver 15.75 – 18.71 

Food Service Receiving/Supply 15.75 – 18.71 

Evening Supervisor of Building Services 20.64 – 25.41 

Food Service Training Specialist 17.84 – 24.99 

Food Service Bids & Commodity Coordinator 16.99 – 26.55 

Executive Chef & Culinary Event Coordinator 16.99 – 26.55 

Quality Assurance Coordinator 19.61 – 22.92 

Production Coordinator 19.61 – 22.92 

Transportation Route/Driver Coordinator 19.61 – 22.92 

Adult/Community Education Non-Contract Teachers 32.06 * 

Building Community Education Coordinator 27.41 – 34.27 

Radio Station Staff Announcer 9.24 – 13.14 

Radio Station Development Assistant 10.75 – 17.19 

School Security Officer 30.00** 

Title I/Funded Pupil/Program/Parent Support Person 19.58 – 28.52 

Title I/Building Translator/Interpreter 19.58 – 28.52 

Title I/Building Translator/Parent Liaison 15.35 – 19.25 

School Parent/Community Liaison 19.58 – 28.52 

District Translator 19.58 – 28.52 

Evening Events Supervisor 14.82 

Asst. Site Coordinator - 21st Century Community Learning Center  14.00 

After-School Community Education Organized Activities Leader 14.00 

After-School Community Education Organized Activities Assistant 9.39 

Deaf/Hard of Hearing Educational Interpreter 16.12 – 30.10 

Early College Data Specialist 24.24 – 27.70 

EACC Testing Specialist 24.24 – 27.70 

21st Century Community Education Program Manager 28.00 – 33.00 

Campus Security – I 12.00 – 20.00 

Campus Security – II 14.00 – 22.00 

*    Hourly rate based on .001 of the certified teacher’s base salary set forth in 
Appendix B of the 2017-2018 Master Contract 

**      Effective August 1, 2017



policy 

 
 

BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.12S/page 2 of 15 
 
 

POSITION YEARLY 
 SALARY RANGE 
Radio Station Manager 49,673 – 73,798 

Radio Station Development Director 46,748 – 70,738 

Radio Station Business Account Manager  36,896 – 69,562 

Radio Station Program Director 36,896 – 56,766 

Radio Station Senior Reporter and Assignment Editor 31,875 – 46,672 

Radio Station Reporter and Editor 30,281 – 44,338 

Radio Station Operations Manager 25,545 – 41,865 

Radio Station Morning Edition Host 28,991 – 45,636 

Radio Station Promotions Manager 29,818 – 44,367 

Radio Station Membership Manager 38,741 – 52,384 

Radio Station Business/Workforce Development Reporter – IPB News 35,000 – 37,000 
30,000 – 44,338 

Olweus Bullying Prevention Program Coordinator 42,664 – 57,723 

Assistant Supervisor of Building Services 55,049 – 68,811 

Adult and Community Education Program Manager 63,518 – 74,105 

Data and Assessment Manager 63,518 – 74,105 

Data Specialist 37,619 – 59,116 

Digital Communication Specialist 37,619 – 59,116 

Staff Accountant 40,000 – 50,000 

School Psychologist Intern 36,230 

21st Century Community Learning Center Coordinator 2,500 (per semester) 

 
An hourly employee who is required to report to work to respond to an emergency 
outside of the employee’s regular work hours will be paid for a minimum of two (2) 
hours. 
 
Performance Awards for Radio Station Employees 
 
The Radio Station Manager may propose performance awards to be paid to radio 
station employees who achieve performance goals established by the Station 
Manager and approved by the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
The proposed goals, once approved by the Chief Financial Officer, shall be presented 
in writing to the radio station employee. 
 
Radio station employees who achieve their performance goals shall be paid their 
award during the fiscal year when the goal is met. 
 



policy 

 
 

BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.12S/page 3 of 15 
 
Fringe Benefits 
 
 A. Income Protection and Annuities 
   
  The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for 

regular classified employees to purchase income protection and tax 
sheltered annuities.  This is done by specifications and through 

company or broker approved by the Board of Schools Trustees of the 
Elkhart Community Schools. 

 
   
 B. Insurance 
   
  In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community 

Schools contributes toward a policy for each regular classified 
employee, working 30 or more hours per week, who is a member of 
the group hospitalization, major medical and life insurance program 
approved by the Board of School Trustees.  Eligible employees’ may 
select one of the plans provided by the Board. 

   
  The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the 

employee’s annual salary or wages rounded up to the next thousand 
dollars.  The Board will contribute ninety percent (90%) of the 
premium cost of a group long-term disability insurance policy for 
employees who work thirty (30) or more hours per week. 

   
 C. Severance Benefits 
   
  Employees in Miscellaneous Positions who have completed a 

minimum of six (6) months of active service with the Elkhart 
Community Schools will be eligible for the following benefits upon 
written resignation received by the Director of Personnel at least 
ten (10) working days prior to the last date of employment. 

   
 1. Resignation 
   
  Employees shall be paid for unused personal business leave 

in the current year of employment.  Vacation days earned in 
the current year shall also be paid to full-time employees.  
Payment for unused personal leave and vacation shall be 
made at the rate of pay in effect at termination.  The effective 
date of resignation shall be established to include use of all 



policy 

 
 

BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.12S/page 4 of 15 
 

personal leave and unused vacation days. 
   
 2. Retirement, Death, or Disability 
   
  The benefits listed below are in addition to those in 

Employees’ Fringe Benefits. 
   

 a. For purposes of this benefit, “retirement” shall be 
defined as resignation by an employee who at the time 
of retirement is age sixty (60) and has ten (10) or more 
consecutive years of employment in the Elkhart 
Community Schools.  Only the six (6) months service 
requirement must be met to be eligible for the 
disability or death benefit. 

   
 b. A maximum of thirty (30) accumulated days of unused 

personal leave will be paid to eligible employees who 
retire, die, or become totally permanently disabled 
while employed by the Elkhart Community Schools. In 
the event of death, the benefit shall be paid to the 
decedent’s estate. 

   
 c. In addition, employees who are fifty five (55) years of 

age or older and have at least fifteen (15) years of 
service and who have been insured under the Elkhart 
Community Schools’ group insurance plan for at least 
the last five (5) years, shall be eligible to continue in 
that program until age sixty five (65) by paying 100% of 
the premiums in advance at the business office. 

   
 d. A miscellaneous employee who retires at age fifty-

five (55) or older with ten (10) or more consecutive 
years of service, or a miscellaneous employee who dies 
with ten (10) or more consecutive years of service is 
eligible to select one of the following benefits based 
upon the employee’s daily rate at the time of 
retirement: 

   
 1) One (1) day’s pay for each full year employed by 

the Elkhart Community Schools, or 
   
 2) At least forty-five percent (45%) of the unused 



policy 

 
 

BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.12S/page 5 of 15 
 

sick leave will be paid, in accordance with the 
provisions in the Employees employee booklet. 

   
 In the case of the death of an eligible employee, this 

benefit will be paid to the employee’s beneficiary. 
   
 e. During the month of January, any miscellaneous 

employee who has perfect attendance, other than 
vacation, bereavement, or personal leave, in any full 
year subsequent to January 1, 2019, shall be paid the 
sum of $100 for each year; any employee who is absent 
for any reason for five (5) or less days, other than 
vacation, bereavement, or personal leave, shall be paid 
a sum of $50.   
 
Any miscellaneous employee who has perfect 
attendance, other than vacation, bereavement, or 
personal leave, in any full year subsequent to January 
1, 2006 and prior to January 1, 2019, shall be paid the 
sum of $100 for each year at the time of retirement.  
Any employee who is absent for any reason for five (5) 
or less days, other than vacation, bereavement, or 
personal leave days, shall be paid the sum of $50 for 
each year at the time of retirement. 

   
 D. Change in Classification 
   
  When any classified employee is employed in another classified 

employee group, all comparable benefits will remain in effect.  Years 
of accrued service and accumulated benefit days will continue, 
subject to Board Policy. 

 
Absences 
 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee’s responsibility to notify and give 
the reason for absence to his/her immediate supervisor as soon as possible.  This 
notice is to be given at least one-half (1/2) hour before the time that the employee 
regularly reports for work.  Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of 
absence.  Deductions for absence will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an 
absence policy. (No absence report is necessary on emergency closing days when pay 
is not to be received.) 
 



policy 

 
 

BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.12S/page 6 of 15 
 
All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain 
illness and leave benefits.  Absences for all classified personnel in addition to the 
days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for 
which prior approval has been granted.  Any absence of an employee may, at the 
discretion of the employer, be subject to proper and sufficient verification 
satisfactory to the employer.  Three (3) days’ unexcused absences in any one school 
year shall be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or 

termination.  Upon written request received by the appropriate administrator, at 
least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five or 
less consecutive working days may be approved.  The best interests of the school 
corporation will be considered. 
 
Personal Illness/Family Illness Absence 
 
As used in this section, “immediate family” includes spouse, life partner, child, 
sister, brother, mother, father, mother-in-law, father-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-
in-law, grandparent, grandchild, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, and any other 
member of the family unit who is regularly living in the same household as the 
employee.  “Life Partner” shall mean an individual whose close association with the 
employee is the equivalent of a family relationship.  “Family Unit” shall mean any 
person related to the employee, genetically or by marriage, or any person for whom 
the employee is the legal guardian. 
 
Full-time classified personnel will be allowed the number of hours equal to one 
workday per month of employment for personal illness/family illness absence.  This 
will provide ninety-six (96) hours of personal illness/family illness absence annually.  
Unused personal illness/family illness absence may accumulate to a total of the 
number of hours equal to two hundred (200) days as personal illness. 
 
Regular school-year classified employees will be allowed the number of hours equal 
to one (1) workday per month of employment for personal illness/family illness 
leave.   
 
Any unused hours will accumulate as personal illness absence to a total of the 
number of hours equal to 120 work days.  Use of accumulated sick leave by a 
school-year employee terminates at the close of the school year.  It cannot be used 
again unless the employee is employed for the following school year or employed at a 
later date. 
 
The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor’s approval to return to work 
following an illness. 
 



policy 

 
 

BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.12S/page 7 of 15 
 
Job-Related Injury 
 
An employee injured in the performance of his/her duties is eligible for Worker's 
Compensation. The employee is required to complete an injury report form on the 
day of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the 
employer.  Time required for the employee to recuperate from any personal injury 
arising out of and in the course of employment responsibility shall be governed by 

Indiana laws regarding Worker's Compensation.  Worker's Compensation benefits 
will begin after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty six and two thirds 
percent (66-2/3%) of the employee's average wage rate.  The employee's share of the 
health/life insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business Office or 
insurance will be terminated.  An employee may receive full pay by using available 
illness absence, personal business, and/or vacation benefits. 
 
Bereavement 
 
Employees shall be entitled to be absent from work without loss of compensation on 
account of death in the immediate family for a period extending not more than 
seven (7) consecutive calendar days immediately beyond each death. 
 
“Immediate family” is defined as father, mother, brother, sister, spouse, life partner 
(as defined elsewhere in this policy), child, grandfather, grandmother, grandchild, 
father-in-law, mother-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-
law, or any other member of the family unit regularly living in the same household 
as the employee. 
 
Up to one (1) day’s absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend 
the funeral of another relative. 
 
When requested, additional bereavement day(s) with or without pay may be granted 
by the Superintendent or designee. 
 
Military Leave 
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the 
recommendation of the Superintendent to any regular employee who may be 
required or shall elect to enter the military service.  This will permit the employee to 
return to take a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge. 
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of 
the National Guard, is called on to receive temporary military training shall be 
entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1) 



policy 

 
 

BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.12S/page 8 of 15 
 
calendar year.  Such absence shall result in no loss of wages.  When the employee 
has received the military pay he/she shall present the check or a copy of the check 
to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made 
for each day of paid absence from the next payroll check.  Upon return from 
temporary training or leave, the employee will be restored to a comparable position 
without loss of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment. 
 

Health Leave 
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action, regular classified employees may be 
granted a health leave after one (1) year of service.  Requests for health leave by an 
employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s 
statement. 
 
The Board, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular employee on leave 
for health reasons if, in its judgment, the physical or mental health of the employee 
is interfering with the successful performance of his/her responsibilities. 
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year.  An employee 
shall be afforded the opportunity to continue participation in any insurance program 
in which s/he is enrolled.  Such participation shall be at the employee’s own 
expense. 
 
Health Leave - Procedure 
 
An employee with at least one (1) year’s service, who has used all of his/her personal 
illness, personal leave, FMLA Leave, and vacation benefits, may be placed on a 
health leave. 
 
 A. After all available benefit days have been exhausted, or 
   
 B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular 

duties for an extended period of time has been provided, or 
   
 C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the 

Director of Personnel from the appropriate administrator. 
 
Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within 
thirty (30) days after s/he has used all benefits, it will be grounds for termination.  
In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a 
physician.  The cost of any such examination will be paid by the employer. 
 



policy 

 
 

BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.12S/page 9 of 15 
 
In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may 
submit the request for health leave, and any required documentation. 
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating 
the ability to perform the job responsibilities.  Employment will be held for a period 
of up to one (1) year.  After the employee has been on leave for a year, s/he will be 
eligible for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes 

available. 
 
Personal Leave 
 
Full-time classified personnel are entitled to the number of hours equal to three (3) 
workdays for absence for personal reasons during each calendar year without loss of 
pay.  Regular school-year classified employees are entitled to the number of hours 
equal to two (2) workdays for absence for personal reasons during each calendar 
year without loss of pay.  A personal leave request form shall be completed and 
submitted to the appropriate administrator to accompany the payroll report for the 
period in which the absence occurs. 
 
Unused personal leave will accumulate for retirement. 
 
Personal Leave - Procedure 
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave 
request form and giving such form to the employee’s supervisor, or authorized 
designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance.  In the event of an 
unforeseen emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it 
impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice, the employee shall 
notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible.  When such is the case, the 
written request shall be completed no later than the first day of return from the 
absence. 
 
Except for emergencies, personal business hours shall not be used for the sole 
purpose of extending the school vacation periods of Fall Recess, Thanksgiving, 
Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break as defined by the school calendar 
unless the employee complies with the following procedure: 
 
 A. Once every three (3) years an employee may use personal business 

hours to extend a holiday or vacation period described above by 
exchanging two personal business hours for each personal business 
hour taken adjacent to the holiday or vacation period. 

   



policy 

 
 

BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.12S/page 10 of 15 
 
 B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the 

Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance of taking said day. 
   
 C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding 

or immediately following vacation periods shall be granted only upon 
approval of the Superintendent or designee.  For the purpose of 
determining when an emergency exists, “emergency” shall be defined 

as an unforeseen event that prohibits the employee from attending 
to his or her assigned duties. 

 
Jury and Witness Duty Pay 
 
Jury Duty 
 
All Employees in Miscellaneous Positions will be granted excused absence when they 
are subpoenaed to serve on the jury.  Such absence shall result in no loss of wages.  
When the employee has received her/his jury duty check, the check or copy of the 
check shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury 
duty pay will be made from the next payroll check. 
 

Witness Duty 
 
In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, except in cases noted 
below, and gives testimony before a court of law or governmental administrative 
agency, the employee shall be granted absence to witness for the time during the 
working day which the employee is required to be present.  Such absence, up to 
three (3) days for any one case, shall result in no loss of wages.  For cases involving 
extended absence to witness, the superintendent may grant additional days with 
pay, with substitute deduction where applicable, or without pay.  When the 
employee is in receipt of his/her witness duty check, a copy of the check shall be 
presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to witness duty pay will 
be made from the next payroll check.  The employee will not be paid when such 
testimony is given in any employee relations related litigation involving the employer 
or any other school employer, unless the employer subpoenas the employee to 
testify. 
 
Parental Leave 
 
A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request 
of the employee to the Director of Personnel.  In the event that the employee is 
pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time between thirty (30) days 
after the Director of Personnel is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) days after 



policy 

 
 

BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.12S/page 11 of 15 
 
the birth of the child.  For employees who are not pregnant, the leave may be 
requested to begin any time within thirty (30) days of the date that the child is 
expected in the home.  In cases of emergency the thirty (30) day notification period 
may be waived.  Leaves may be requested for a period not to exceed one (1) year, and 
are non-renewable. 
 
The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which 

s/he is qualified, as determined by the employer, or waive any right to re-
employment.  For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any group 
insurance program for which s/he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by paying the 
full cost of premiums in advance at the Business Office. 
 
Adoptive Leave 
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than six (6) years old shall 
be entitled to use family illness leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the 
adoptive child.  In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave the employee must 
notify the Director of Personnel and the employee’s immediate supervisor of the 
request for adoptive leave upon acceptance of the application for adoption.  All such 
leaves shall commence on the date that the child is physically turned over to the 
employee for the employee’s care and legal custody. 
 
Holidays and Vacations 
 
Definitions 
 
 A. As used in this policy, the term "full-time employee" means an 

employee who is employed on a twelve-month basis and who has a 
regular workday of four (4) or more hours. 

   
 B. As used in this policy, the term "school year employee" means an 

employee who is employed on a school-year basis and works 
approximately one hundred seventy-five (175) or more days per year, 
and who has a regular workday of four (4) or more hours. 

 
Holidays 
 
 A. Full-time classified employees shall be paid for the following holidays, 

when they occur on days which would have been worked if it were not 
for that special day, subject to the provisions below: 

   
  New Year's - two days 



policy 

 
 

BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.12S/page 12 of 15 
 
   
  Martin Luther King Jr. Day 
   
  Presidents Day 
   
  Memorial Day 
   

  Independence Day – two (2) days 
   
  Labor Day 
   
  Thanksgiving - two (2) days 
   
  Christmas - two (2) days 
   
 
 1. During the winter break (when schools are closed) four (4) 

days will be allowed as follows: 
   
 a. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekday, 

they shall be paid holidays, and a classified employee 
may, subject to approval of the immediate supervisor, 
select either but not both December 24 or 
December 26 as a holiday with pay, and may, subject 
to approval of the immediate supervisor, select either 
but not both December 31 or January 2 as a holiday 
with pay.  To be eligible for either of the above 
selections, a classified employee must make such 
request to the immediate supervisor no later than 
December 10. 

   
 b. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekend, 

then both the Friday before and the Monday after shall 
be paid holidays, unless schools are open on one of 
these days, in which case an alternate day will be 
determined. 

   
 2. When any holiday is celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid 

holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday following, 
unless school is in session. 

   
 3. Thanksgiving Day and the day following will be paid holidays. 



policy 

 
 

BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.12S/page 13 of 15 
 
   
 4. Presidents’ Day will be a paid holidays. 
   
 B. School-year classified employees shall be paid for the following 

holidays when they occur on days which they would have worked if 
it were not for that special day, subject to the provisions above: 

   

  Martin Luther King, Jr. Day 
   
  Presidents Day 
   
  Memorial Day 
   
  Labor Day 
   
  Thanksgiving Day and the following Friday (two (2) days) 
   
  Christmas Day - (if celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday 

on the Friday preceding or the Monday following) 
 
Vacations 
 
 A. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31, been employed by 

the Elkhart Community Schools for less than one (1) calendar year, 
shall be entitled to one (1) working day vacation with pay during the 
next calendar year, for each full month of employment completed, 
provided that no more than ten (10) vacation days may be accrued. 

   
 B. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for that entire 
calendar year, shall be entitled to ten (10) working days vacation 
with pay during the next calendar year. 

   
 C. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for six (6) consecutive 
years, is entitled to fifteen (15) working days vacation with pay 
during the next calendar year. 

   
 D. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for fifteen (15) 
consecutive years, is entitled to twenty (20) working days vacation 
with pay during the next calendar year. 



policy 

 
 

BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.12S/page 14 of 15 
 
   
 E. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for twenty (20) 
consecutive years, is entitled to twenty-five (25) working days 
vacation with pay during the next calendar year. 

   
 F. Years shall be considered "consecutive" so long as any interruption 

of service did not include other employment. 
   
 G. For the sole purpose of determining vacation benefit eligibility; 

employees who transfer from a school-year position to a 12-month 
position will be granted years of service based on the following 
conversion formula. NOTE: the years of service conversion is only 
applicable for the purpose of vacation benefits. This computation does 
not replace the total years of service invested with Elkhart Community 
Schools for the purposes of Retirement benefits or Staff Recognition.   
 
The employee’s employment record with Elkhart Community 
Schools for all positions held will be considered. Using the number 
of paid hours per day, multiplied by the number of paid days per 
school year, divided by 2080 to obtain the number of years 
equivalent to a 12-month position. The total number of equivalent 
years will be rounded up to nearest whole number. 
 
The calculated number of years of service will be used in 
determining the total number of day’s vacation which such full-time 
employee is entitled to receive under this policy. The employee will 
receive the total amount of awarded vacation days effective the 
January following their date of conversion. Prior to completing one 
full year of service, the employee will be entitled to a prorated 
amount of vacation days based on the calculation formula 
referenced in the paragraph above. 

   
 H. Dates requested for use as vacation days shall be submitted to the 

immediate supervisor prior to the first day of requested vacation, 
and shall be subject to the approval of the immediate supervisor. 

   
 I. Vacation days will be available to the staff member during the 

twelve (12) months of the calendar year and for six (6) months beyond. 
   
 J. Only 12-month employees will be entitled to paid vacation days. 
   



policy 

 
 

BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.12S/page 15 of 15 
 
 K. Radio Station Manager and Data and Assessments Manager shall be 

eligible for twenty (20) days of vacation each contract year, exclusive 
of weekends and holidays, at a time(s) approved by the staff 
member's immediate supervisor(s).  Upon completion of five (5) years 
of employment with the Elkhart Community Schools in such 
position, or when previous employment provided relatively 
comparable experience, said managers shall be eligible for twenty-

five (25) days of vacation each year.   
 
Vacation days will be available to the said managers during the 
twelve (12) months of the calendar year and for six (6) months 
beyond.  Unused vacation days will not be cumulative after the 
expiration of the eighteen (18) month period and shall at that time 
be transferred to sick leave and be available for use as sick leave 
days, provided at no time may more than the number of hours equal 
to the number of scheduled workdays in the current year 
accumulate for use as sick leave. 

 
 
February 12, 2019March 12, 2019 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.06S/page 1 of 16 
 
 
 
 

SECRETARIAL/BUSINESS COMPENSATION PLAN 

 
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage schedule for 
secretaries commencing January 1, 2018.  In addition, the three percent (3%) 
employee contribution to PERF will be paid by the Elkhart Community Schools. 
 

    II II.3 II.6 III III.3 III.6 IV IV.3 IV.6 V 

1 0 – 55 days 11.67 11.86 12.09 12.30 12.60 12.92 13.24 13.74 14.19 16.46 

2 55 days – 1 year 11.95 12.19 12.47 12.76 13.20 13.64 14.08 14.53 14.99 17.26 

3 1 year plus 12.30 12.61 12.92 13.24 13.69 14.15 14.48 14.94 15.45 17.73 

4 2 years plus 12.76 13.20 13.64 14.08 14.46 14.84 15.25 15.70 16.18 18.45 

5 3 years plus 13.24 13.67 14.08 14.48 14.99 15.54 16.06 16.53 17.00 19.27 

6 4 years plus 14.08 14.46 14.84 15.25 15.74 16.29 16.83 17.30 17.76 20.03 

7 5 years plus 14.48 14.99 15.54 16.06 16.69 17.32 17.93 18.38 18.86 21.13 

 
*subject to Sections B-1 and B-2 of this policy. 
 
Those secretaries who work in the evening on a regular basis shall be paid an 
additional twenty-five cents ($.25) per hour for evening hours. 
 
 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.06S/page 2 of 16 
 
Secretarial Classifications 
 
The following job classifications will be in effect for the wage schedule listed above, 
subject to other sections of this policy: 
 
Classifications 

V  Secretarial    Business   

Classified Human Resources Assistant 

Administrative Assistant to Superintendent/Board 
of School Trustees (effective date 1/7/19) 

Certified Payroll 

Classified Payroll 
Insurance  
 

IV.  Secretarial    Business   

Board of School Trustees 
Director of Career & Technical Ed.  
High School Principal 
Secretary/Human Resources 
Data Specialist – Instructional Leadership 

Building Services Office Manager 
Payroll Assistant 
Director of Business Operations 
EACC – WVPE Office Manager 
Director of Transportation 
Mail Room/Duplicating        

III.  Secretarial    Business 

 
EACC Principal 
EACC Central Office/Guidance/Accounting 
Elementary Principal 
High School Athletics/Student Activities 
High School Vice-Principal 
High School Registrar 
Middle School Principals 
Elkhart Academy 
Student Services Secretary (5 positions) 
Receptionist 
Library Services (CO) 
*Federal Programs 

Instructional Leadership 
 

Business Office/Purchasing  
Cafeteria 
Building Services Supply Coordinator 
Director of Food Services 
Safety & Security 
Mail/Copy Center  
 

II.  Secretarial    Business 

Adult & Community Ed. Data Entry 
Adult & Community Ed. Receptionist 
Office Assistants  

High School Assistant Principal 
High School Media Center 
Middle School Assistant 
 

EACC- Office  
PACE Program 
Teenage Parent Program 

Clerical Asst. / Food Service (MHS) 

*Subject to reclassification if this position becomes funded from the General Fund. 
 
There will be an increase equal to the base increase for any secretary who by 
placement of the classifications listed in A of this section would receive less than the 
base increase raise. 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.06S/page 3 of 16 
 
 
 A. Commencement of Employment 
   
  Upon a secretary’s commencement of employment with the Elkhart 

Community Schools, such secretary may, at the discretion of the 
superintendent/authorized designee, be placed at any of the first 
six (6) steps of the salary schedule.  The secretary will serve a fifty 
five (55) calendar-day probationary period. 

   
  A secretary will proceed to the next step when she/he accumulates 

the time normally required to qualify for progression to the next step 
of the wage schedule, unless performance is such that the 
immediate supervisor recommends the step movement be withheld.  
This recommendation shall be made at the end of the probationary 
period of no more than eight (8) weeks, nor fewer than six (6) weeks, 
prior to the anniversary date of the secretary in question. 

   
 B. Transfer of Job Classification 
   
  At the discretion of the employer, a secretary may be assigned to fill 

another secretarial position vacancy without the need to post the 
vacancy, so long as both positions are within the same department, 
and both positions are in the same job classification.  In the event 
that a secretary transfers from one job classification to another, the 
secretary will normally be placed on probation in the new position, 
but will continue to receive benefits. The provisions as written above 
shall be applicable except when a presently employed secretary who 
is at the top step is transferred, and in that case the transferred 
secretary may be placed at her/his present step position by the 
Director of Human Resources. 

   
 C. Reclassification of Positions 
   
  The administration retains the authority to reclassify positions when 

it determines that it is in the best interest of the Corporation. 

   
  In addition, the Secretarial Negotiations Committee may, during 

their annual discussions with the administration, propose 
reclassification of secretarial positions. 

   
 D. Secretarial Career Increment Schedule 
   
  The amounts as listed will be added to the salary of any secretary 

whose years of employment in the Elkhart Community Schools 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.06S/page 4 of 16 
 

would qualify for such. 
   

 Years Regularly Employed in Elkhart Community 
Schools 

Hourly  
Increment 

   
 five (5) or more, but less than ten (10) $.20 

   
 ten (10) or more, but less than fifteen (15) $.30 

   
 fifteen (15) or more, but less than twenty (20) $.50 

   
 twenty (20) or more $.70 

 
Mentor Program 
 
Any secretary who serves as a mentor shall be given a stipend of $100 per calendar 
year.  Mentors shall be assigned at the sole discretion of the Director of Human 
Resources at the time a secretary is assigned to a new position. 
 
Fringe Benefits 
 
Income Protection and Annuities 
 
The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for regular classified 
employees to purchase income protection and tax sheltered annuities.  This is done 
by specifications and through a company or broker approved by the Board of 
Schools Trustees of the Elkhart Community Schools. 
 
Insurance 
 
In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community Schools contributes 
toward a policy for each regular classified employee, working 30 or more hours per 
week, who is a member of the group hospitalization, major medical and life 
insurance program approved by the Board of School Trustees.  Eligible employees’ 
may select one of the plans provided by the Board.    

 
The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the employee’s annual 
salary or wages rounded up to the next thousand dollars.  The Board will contribute 
ninety percent (90%) of the premium cost of a group long-term disability insurance 
policy for employees who work thirty (30) or more hours per week. 
 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.06S/page 5 of 16 
 
Severance Benefits 
 
Secretarial employees who have completed a minimum of six (6) months of active 
service with the Elkhart Community Schools will be eligible for the following benefits 
upon written resignation received by the Director of Human Resources at least ten 
(10) working days prior to the last date of employment. 
 
 A. Resignation 
   
  Employees shall be paid for unused personal business leave in the 

current year of employment.  Vacation days earned in the current 
year shall also be paid to full time employees.  Payment for unused 
personal leave and vacation shall be made at the rate of pay in effect 
at termination.  The effective date of resignation shall be established 
to include use of all personal leave and unused vacation days. 

   
 B. Retirement, Death, or Disability - The benefits listed below are in 

addition to those in Section A. 
   
 1. As used in this section, “retirement” shall be defined as 

resignation by a secretarial employee who is age sixty (60) 
and has ten (10) or more consecutive years of employment; or 
who is fifty-five (55) years of age or older and has fifteen (15) 
or more consecutive years of employment; or who is fifty (50) 
years of age or older and has twenty (20) consecutive years of 
employment in the Elkhart Community Schools.   

   
 2. The Board will contribute $3,000 per year to be applied to 

the single or family plan insurance premium until age 
sixty-five (65) for each secretary, age sixty (60) or beyond, who 
retires with notice received in the office of the Superintendent 
three (3) months in advance. In the event of an emergency, 
relief from the required three (3) month notice may be granted 
at the Superintendent’s discretion. 

   

  In addition, for the secretary who has fifteen (15) years of 
experience, is age fifty five (55), and has been participating in 
the group health and life insurance program for at least the 
last five (5) years, the employee, by paying one hundred 
percent (100%) of the annual premium until age sixty, and by 
paying $1,250 less than one hundred percent (100%) of the 
annual premium until age sixty five (65), may continue in the 
group insurance plan until age sixty five (65). 

   



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.06S/page 6 of 16 
 
  Also this benefit will be discontinued if the retired secretary 

becomes employed on a full time school year or calendar year 
basis, or if through other employment qualifies for health 
insurance benefits.  The employer reserves the right to 
request the employment status of the retired secretary. 

   
 3. A retiring secretary will be paid his/her daily rate multiplied 

times the number of years of service in the Elkhart 
Community Schools. 

   
 4. A maximum of thirty-five (35) accumulated days of unused 

personal leave will be paid to a secretarial employee who 
retires, dies or becomes totally permanently disabled while 
employed by the Elkhart Community Schools.  Vacation days 
earned in the current year shall also be paid prior to 
retirement, or upon disability termination or death of the 
employee.  In the event of death, the above benefit shall be 
paid to the decedent’s estate. 

   
 5. In addition to the above benefits, the actual number of 

days of accumulated sick leave, not to exceed a maximum of 
twelve (12) days or forty-five percent (45%) of the 
accumulated sick leave days, whichever is greater, shall be 
paid to a secretarial employee at the time of retirement, or to 
the secretary’s beneficiary in the event of the death of a 
secretary eligible for retirement. 

   
 6. During the month of January, any secretary who has perfect 

attendance, other than vacation, bereavement, or personal 
leave, shall be paid the sum of $500 for each year.  Any 
employee who is absent for any reason for five (5) or less 
days, other than vacation, bereavement, or personal leave 
days, shall be paid the sum of $250. 

 
Change in Support Classification 

 
When any classified employee is employed in another classified employee group, all 
comparable benefits will remain in effect.  Years of accrued service and accumulated 
benefit days will continue, subject to Board Policy 3413S. 
 
Absences 
 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee’s responsibility to notify and give 
the reason for absence to his/her immediate supervisor as soon as possible.  This 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.06S/page 7 of 16 
 
notice is to be given at least one-half (1/2) hour before the time that the employee 
regularly reports for work, except for bus drivers, who should give at least one 
hour’s notice.  Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of absence.  
Deductions for absence will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an absence 
policy.  (No absence report is necessary on emergency closing days when pay is not 
to be received.) 
 
All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain 
illness and leave benefits.  Absences for all classified personnel in addition to the 
days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for 
which prior approval has been granted.  Any absence of an employee may, at the 
discretion of the employer, be subject to proper and sufficient verification 
satisfactory to the employer.  Three (3) days’ unexcused absences in any one school 
year shall be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or 
termination.  Upon written request received by the appropriate administrator, at 
least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five (5) or 
less consecutive working days may be approved.  The best interests of the school 
corporation will be considered. 
 
Absences and Leaves 
 
Personal/Family Illness Absence 
 
Full-time Secretaries 
 
Full-time secretaries will be allowed the number of hours equal to one (1) workday 
per month of employment for personal illness/family illness absence. This will 
provide ninety six (96) hours of personal illness/family illness absence annually. 
Unused personal illness/family illness absence may accumulate to a total of the 
number of hours equal to two hundred fifteen (215) days as personal illness days. 
 
School-year Secretaries 
 
 A. Regular school year classified employees will be allowed the number 

of hours equal to one (1) workday per month of employment for 

personal illness/family illness leave. 
   
 B. Any unused hours will accumulate as personal illness absence to a 

total of the number of hours equal to one hundred fifty (150) 
workdays.  Use of accumulated sick leave by a school year employee 
terminates at the close of the school year.  It cannot be used again 
unless the employee is employed for the following school year or 
employed at a later date. 

 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.06S/page 8 of 16 
 
All Secretaries 
 
The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor’s approval to return to work 
following an illness. 
 
Family Illness Leave 
 
 A. As used in this section, “immediate family” includes a secretary’s 

spouse, life partner, child, step-child, sister, brother, mother, father, 
mother in law, father in law, sister in law, brother in law, 
grandparent, grandchild, daughter in law, son in law, and any other 
member of the family unit who is regularly living in the same 
household as the secretary. “Life Partner” shall mean an individual 
whose close association with the employee is the equivalent of a 
family relationship.  “Family unit” shall mean any person related to 
the employee, genetically or by marriage, or any person for whom 
the employee is the legal guardian. 

   
 B. A secretary shall be entitled to the number of hours equal to two (2) 

paid days for family illness leave per calendar year, provided that 
such leave shall be for the sole purpose to care for a member of the 
secretary’s immediate family who becomes seriously ill and requires 
both medical attention by a licensed physician and the care and 
attention of the secretary.  Such medical attention provided may be 
requested to be verified by a licensed practicing physician.  Unused 
family illness will accumulate as illness absence. 

   
 C.  When an emergency medical condition of an employee’s immediate 

family necessitates personal care by the employee for an extended 
period of time (days), the employee may annually use five (5) or less 
days of personal illness to provide such care.  This is in addition to 
family illness provisions already provided. 

 
Job-Related Injury 
 

An employee injured in the performance of his/her duties is eligible for Worker’s 
Compensation.  The employee is required to complete an injury report form on the 
day of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the 
employer.  Time required for the employee to recuperate from any personal injury 
arising out of and in the course of employment responsibility shall be governed by 
Indiana laws regarding Worker’s Compensation.  Worker’s Compensation 
benefits will begin after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty six and two thirds 
percent (66-2/3%) of the employee’s average wage rate.  The employee’s share of the 
health/life insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business Office or 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.06S/page 9 of 16 
 
insurance will be terminated.  An employee may receive full pay by using available 
illness absence, personal business, and/or vacation benefits. 
 
Personal Leave 
 
Secretarial/Business staff members are entitled to the number of hours equal to 
three (3) workdays for absence for personal reasons during each calendar year 
without loss of pay.  A personal leave request form shall be completed and 
submitted to the appropriate administrator to accompany the payroll report for the 
period in which the absence occurs. 
 
Unused personal leave will accumulate for retirement. 
 
Secretarial/Business Personal Leave - Procedure 
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave 
request form and giving such form to the employee’s supervisor, or authorized 
designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance.  In the event of an 
unforeseen emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it 
impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice, the employee shall 
notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible.  When such is the case, the 
written request shall be completed no later than the first day of return from the 
absence. 
 
For less than 12-month secretaries, except for emergencies, personal business hours 
shall not be used for the sole purpose of extending the school vacation periods of 
Fall Recess, Thanksgiving, Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break as 
defined by the school calendar unless the employee complies with the following 
procedure: 
 
 A. Once every three (3) years an employee may use personal business 

hours to extend a holiday or vacation period described above by 
exchanging two personal business hours for each personal business 
hour taken adjacent to the holiday or vacation period. 

   

 B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the 
Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance of taking said day. 

   
 C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding 

or immediately following vacation periods shall be granted only upon 
approval of the Superintendent or designee.  For the purpose of 
determining when an emergency exists, “emergency” shall be defined 
as an unforeseen event that prohibits the employee from attending 
to his/her assigned duties. 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.06S/page 10 of 16 
 
 
For 12-month secretaries, personal business leave may be taken at any time upon 
the approval of the supervisor or authorized designee. 
 
No personal leave will be granted for participation in any strike or work stoppage or 
other concerted action by an employee or employee group. 
 
Bereavement 
 
Each regular classified employee shall be entitled to be absent from work without 
loss of compensation on account of death in the immediate family for a period 
extending not more than seven (7) consecutive calendar days immediately beyond 
each death. 
 
“Immediate family” is defined as father, mother, step-parents, brother, sister, 
spouse, life partner (as defined elsewhere in this policy), child, step-children, 
grandfather, grandmother, grandchild, father in law, mother in law, sister in law, 
brother in law, son in law, daughter in law, or any other member of the family unit 
regularly living in the same household as the employee. 
 
Up to one (1) day’s absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend 
the funeral of another relative. 
 
When requested, additional bereavement day(s) with or without pay may be granted 
by the Superintendent or designee. 
 
A secretary shall be entitled to up to one (1) paid day per year, to be taken in 
increments of no less than two hours for an absence, to attend the funeral of a close 
friend, upon the condition that the requested absence must not create a serious 
problem in the secretary’s work setting. 
 
Military Leave 
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the 
recommendation of the Superintendent to any regular employee who may be 

required or shall elect to enter the military service.  This will permit the employee to 
return to take a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge. 
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of 
the National Guard, is called on to receive temporary military training shall be 
entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1) 
calendar year.  Such absence shall result in no loss of wages.  When the employee 
has received the military pay s/he shall present the check or a copy of the check to 
the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made for 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.06S/page 11 of 16 
 
each day of paid absence from the next payroll check.  Upon return from temporary 
training or leave, the employee will be restored to a comparable position without loss 
of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment. 
 
Health Leave 
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action regular classified employees may be 
granted a health leave after one (1) year of service.  Requests for health leave by an 
employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s 
statement. 
 
The Board of School Trustees, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular 
employee on leave for health reasons if, in its judgment, the physical or mental 
health of the employee is interfering with the successful performance of his/her 
responsibilities. 
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year.  An employee 
shall be afforded the opportunity to continue participation in any insurance program 
in which s/he is enrolled.  Such participation shall be at the employee’s own 
expense. 
 
Health Leave – Procedure 
 
An employee with at least one year’s service, who has used all of his/her personal 
illness, personal leave, FMLA Leave, and vacation benefits, may be placed on a 
health leave. 
 
 A. After all other available benefit days have been exhausted, or 
   
 B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular 

duties for an extended period of time has been provided, or 
   
 C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the 

Director of Human Resources from the appropriate administrator. 
 

Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within 
thirty (30) days after s/he has used all benefits, it will be grounds for termination.  
In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a 
physician.  The cost of any such examination will be paid by the employer 
 
In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may 
submit the request for health leave, and any required documentation. 
 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.06S/page 12 of 16 
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating 
the ability to perform the job responsibilities.  Employment will be held for a period 
of up to one (1) year.  After the employee has been on leave for a year, s/he will be 
eligible for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes 
available. 
 
Jury and Witness Duty Pay 
 
 A. Jury Duty 
   
  All secretaries will be granted excused absence when they are 

subpoenaed to serve on the jury.  Such absence shall result in no 
loss of wages.  When the employee has received her/his jury duty 
check, the check or copy of the check shall be presented to the 
payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will be 
made from the next payroll check. 

   
 B. Witness Duty 
   
  In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, 

except in cases noted below, and gives testimony before a court of 
law or governmental administrative agency, the employee shall be 
granted absence to witness for the time during the working day 
which the employee is required to be present.  Such absence, up to 
three (3) days for any one case, shall result in no loss of wages.  For 
cases involving extended absence to witness, the Superintendent 
may grant additional days with pay, with substitute deduction 
where applicable, or without pay.  When the employee is in receipt of 
his/her witness duty check, a copy of the check shall be presented 
to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to witness duty 
pay will be made from the next payroll check.  The employee will not 
be paid when such testimony is given in any employee relations 
related litigation involving the employer or any other school 
employer, unless the employer subpoenas the employee to testify. 

 

Parental Leave 
 
A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request 
of the employee to the Director of Human Resources.  In the event the employee is 
pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time between thirty (30) days 
after the Director of Human Resources is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) 
days after the birth of the child.  For employees who are not pregnant, the leave may 
be requested to begin any time within thirty (30) days of the date the child is 
expected in the home.  In cases of emergency the thirty (30) day notification period 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.06S/page 13 of 16 
 
may be waived.  Leaves may be requested for a period not to exceed one year, and 
are non-renewable. 
 
The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which 
s/he is qualified, as determined by the employer, or waive any right to re-
employment.  For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any group 
insurance program for which s/he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by paying the 
full cost of premiums in advance at the Business Office. 
Adoptive Leave 
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than six (6) years old shall 
be entitled to use family illness leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the 
adoptive child.  In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave the employee must 
notify the Director of Human Resources and the employee’s immediate supervisor of 
the request for adoptive leave upon acceptance of the application for adoption.  All 
such leaves shall commence on the date the child is physically turned over to the 
employee for the employee’s care and legal custody. 
 
Holidays and Vacations 
 
Definitions 
 
 A. As used in this policy, the term "full-time employee" means an 

employee who is employed on a twelve month basis and who has a 
regular workday of four (4) or more hours. 

   
 B. As used in this policy, the term "school-year employee" means an 

employee who is employed on a school-year basis and works 
approximately 175 or more days per year, and who has a regular 
workday of four (4) or more hours. 

 
Holidays 
 
 A. Full-time employees shall be paid for the following holidays, when 

they occur on days which would have been worked if it were not for 

that special day, subject to the provisions below: 
   
  New Year’s - two (2) days (See Sec. A.1.) 
    
  Martin Luther King Jr. Day  
    
  Presidents’ Day (See Sec. A.4.) 
    
  Memorial Day  



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.06S/page 14 of 16 
 
    
  Independence Day - two (2) days (See Sec. A.2.) 
    
  Labor Day  
    
  Thanksgiving - two (2) days (See Sec. A.3.) 
    
  Christmas - two (2) days (See Sec. A.1.) 
    
 1. During the winter break (when schools are closed) four (4) 

days will be allowed as follows: 
   
 a. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekday, 

they shall be paid holidays, and a classified employee 
may, subject to approval of the immediate supervisor, 
select either but not both, December 24 or 
December 26 as a holiday with pay, and may, subject 
to approval of the immediate supervisor, select either 
but not both, December 31 or January 2 as a holiday 
with pay.  To be eligible for either of the above 
selections, a classified employee must make such 
request to the immediate supervisor no later than 
December 10. 

   
 b. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekend, 

then both the Friday before and the Monday after shall 
be paid holidays, unless schools are open on one of 
these days, in which case an alternate day will be 
determined. 

   
 2. When any holiday is celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid 

holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday following, 
unless school is in session. 

   
 3. Thanksgiving Day and the day following will be paid holidays. 

   
 4. Presidents’ Day will be a paid holidays. 
   
 B. School-year classified employees shall be paid for the following 

holidays when they occur on days which they would have worked if 
it were not for that special day, subject to the provisions above: 

    
  Martin Luther King Jr. Day  
    



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.06S/page 15 of 16 
 
  Presidents’ Day  
    
  Memorial Day  
    
  Labor Day  
    
  Thanksgiving - two (2) days (See Sec. A.3.) 
    
  Christmas - two one (21) days (if celebrated on a weekend, it will be 

paid holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday following 
 
Vacations 
 
 A.  A full-time employee, who has, as of December 31, been employed 

by the Elkhart Community Schools for less than one (1) calendar 
year, shall be entitled to one (1) working day vacation with pay 
during the calendar year, for each full month of employment 
completed, provided no more than ten (10) vacation days may be 
accrued. Vacation benefit may not be utilized prior to accrual 

and approval from Administrator. 
   
 B. A full time employee, who has, as of December 31 of each year, been 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for that entire 
calendar year, shall be entitled to ten (10) working days vacation 
with pay during the next calendar year. 

   
 C. A full time employee, who has, as of December 31 of each year, been 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for six consecutive 
years, is entitled to fifteen (15) working days vacation with pay 
during the next calendar year. 

   
 D. A full time employee, who has, as of December 31 of each year, been 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for fifteen (15) 
consecutive years, is entitled to twenty (20) working days vacation 
with pay during the next calendar year. 

   
 E. A full time employee, who has, as of December 31 of each year, been 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for twenty (20) 
consecutive years, is entitled to twenty-five (25) working days 
vacation with pay during the next calendar year. 

   
 F. Years shall be considered "consecutive" so long as any interruption 

of service did not include other employment. 
   



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.06S/page 16 of 16 
 
 G. For the sole purpose of determining vacation benefit eligibility; 

employees who transfer from a school-year position to a 12-month 
position will be granted years of service based on the following 
conversion formula. NOTE: the years of service conversion is only 
applicable for the purpose of vacation benefits. This computation does 
not replace the total years of service invested with Elkhart Community 
Schools for the purposes of Retirement benefits or Staff Recognition.   
 
The employee’s employment record with Elkhart Community 
Schools for all positions held will be considered. Using the number 
of paid hours per day, multiplied by the number of paid days per 
school year, divided by 2080 to obtain the number of years 
equivalent to a 12-month position. The total number of equivalent 
years will be rounded up to nearest whole number. 
 
The calculated number of years of service will be used in 
determining the total number of day’s vacation which such full-time 
employee is entitled to receive under this policy. The employee will 
receive the total amount of awarded vacation days effective the 
January following their date of conversion. Prior to completing one 
full year of service, the employee will be entitled to a prorated 
amount of vacation days based on the calculation formula 
referenced in the paragraph above. 

   
 H. Dates requested for use as vacation days shall be submitted to the 

immediate supervisor prior to the first day of requested vacation, 
and shall be subject to the approval of the immediate supervisor.   

   
  When vacation days for secretaries have been requested and 

approved but are not able to be used due to administrative directive, 
an extension of up to three (3) months will be granted for the use of 
such day(s). 

   
 I. Vacation days will be available to the staff member during the 

twelve (12) months of the calendar year and for six (6) months 

beyond.  
   
 J. A school-year employee will not be entitled to paid vacation days. 
 
 
 
December 18, 2018March 12, 2019 



policy 

 
 

BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3141ACS/page 1 of 1 
 
 
 

SUSPENSION OF EMPLOYEES 

 
 
The School Board recognizes its obligation to maintain a working and learning 

environment conducive to the education of students and understands at times 
employees may fail to meet the expectation of serving as an exemplar for those 
students and/or fail to meet their professional responsibilities.  In situations in 
which those charged with supervising determine a suspension of an employee 
without pay is necessary, whether as part of a system of progressive discipline or for 
the benefit of students, colleagues, and/or the community, the administration will 
shall provide due process as required by Federal law and, if a suspension without 
pay for a teacher is sought, comply with the procedure established under State law 
for the suspension of teachers without pay.   
 
It will be the responsibility of the Superintendent to establish administrative 
guidelines which ensure the proper standards have been applied and the proper 
procedures have been followed when a principal makes a decision to suspend a 
teacher without pay. 
 
In acting on a principal’s preliminary determination that a teacheran employee will 
be suspended without pay, the Board will be guided by the procedure set out in I.C. 
20-28-9-22 and will proceed only for one or more of the reasons stated in I.C. 20-28-
9-21. 
 
Administrative Leave 
 
The Superintendent, or his/her designee, shall have the authority to place an 
employee on administrative leave pending an investigation into possible misconduct.  
The Board of School Trustees shall receive timely notification of such action from the 
Superintendent, or his/her designee; who shall seek confirmation of the action taken, 
at the next regularly scheduled board meeting. 
 
 
I.C. 20-28-9-22 
 
 
 
© NEOLA 20152018 
 
January 1, 2017March 12, 2019 



GCS 
Proposed New Administrative Regulation 

 

 
 
 

PROCEDURE FOR SUSPENSION 

 
In all cases, an employee shall be provided with basic due process prior to being 
suspended, with or without pay.  Due process requires notice and an opportunity to 
be heard before being suspended.  In those cases in which the supervisor of the staff 
member determines a suspension without pay is warranted, the administration 
must follow procedures, if any, established by State law: 
 
 

 
 
March 12, 2019 
 



IGBB 
Proposed Revised Administrative Regulation 

 

PROCEDURES FOR IDENTIFYING AND SERVING HIGH ABILITY STUDENTS 

A. Definition 

A high ability student indicates a child or youth performing at, or showing the 

potential for performing at, an outstanding level of accomplishment when 

compared to others of the same age, experience, or environment. 

B. Identification 

A student shall be identified as a high ability student through a formal 

identification process in accordance with the following procedures and Indiana 

law: 

1. All ECS students in Grades K-8 will participate in Measures of Academic 

Progress (MAP) testing provided by the Northwest Evaluation Association 

(NWEA). Scores from the winter administration will be used to identify 

students with high achievement levels. 

 

2. All students in grades K, 2, and 5 not previously identified as high ability 

will be screened for cognitive potential.  Students in Grades K and 2 will be 

screened using the Cognitive Abilities Test (CogAt).  Students in grade 5 will 

be screened based on the results of the winter administration of the NWEA.   

 

3. The full CogAT will be administered to students in grades K, 2, and 5 who 

performed at the 80th percentile on the screen.  

  

4.3. Students will be identified using local norms.  The NWEA and CogAT cut 

scores will be set by the High Ability Broad Based Planning Committee in 

2016 and reviewed on a regular basis thereafter.  

 

5.4. Students with scores close to the threshold for high ability identification are 

rated on the Scales for Identifying Gifted Students (SIGS), a subjective 

instrument which collects survey information from teachers and parents. 

 

6.5. Students can be identified as high ability in the areas of math, English 

language arts, or general intellectual (both).  

 

7.6. Students newly enrolled in ECS may  

 

a. submit standardized testing evidence from the previous educational 

agency for review by the ECS identification team;  



Page 2 of 3 

Procedures for Identifying and Serving IGBB 

High Ability Students  Administrative Regulation 
 

b. receive a score which qualifies for high ability identification during the 

annual identification process;  

c. participate in testing scheduled for new students prior to the start of the 

school year; or  

d. submit a written request to the Deputy SuperintendentDirector of Special 

Services for a high ability assessment if arriving mid-year. 

8. This thorough assessment strategy precludes the need to request additional 

testing and allows for equal opportunities in considering all students. 

 

C. Programs for High Ability Students 

 

Elkhart Community Schools shall provide an array of learning opportunities for 

high ability students and shall implement procedures to notify 

parents/guardians of these opportunities.  These shall include, but are not 

limited to, the following: 

 

1. instructional and organizational patterns enabling identified students to 

work together as a group, to work with other students, and to work 

independently; 

 

2. a continuum of learning experiences leading to the development of advanced 

level products and performances and opportunities to accelerate in areas of 

strength; and 

 

3. access to differentiation, enrichment, relevance, emotional support, and 

responsive program design and delivery. 

 

D. Change of Placement 

Instructional plans will be designed to meet the needs of all high ability 

students, including students learning English as a Second Language, students 

with Individual Education Plans (IEPs), and students with behavioral or health 

needs. High ability services will continue unless 

1. evidence indicating past testing is invalid or no longer relevant; 

 

2. support plans have not been successful; or 

 

3. a parent requests discontinuation of service. 



Page 3 of 3 

Procedures for Identifying and Serving IGBB 

High Ability Students  Administrative Regulation 
 

In cases where a student is having difficulty in a high ability program, the high 

ability coordinator will identify the root cause of the problem; consult with  the 

teacher; and support adjustments to the curriculum, instruction, assessment, 

or social emotional support. 

 

E. Program Evaluation 

The program outcomes will be prepared on an annual basis and presented to 

the Board.  Program evaluations will be conducted on a six year rotation cycle 

beginning 2015. 

 

 

May 10, 2016March 12, 2019 

 

 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES FINANCES 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 6460/page 1 of 2 
 
 
 

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST AND VENDOR RELATIONS 

 
 
Conflicts of Interest 

 
The School Board shall not knowingly approve a contract or purchase in which a 
Board member, employee, or agent of the Board or their spouse or dependent profits 
or has a pecuniary interest unless the member, employee, or agent with the profit or 
pecuniary interest makes the written disclosure on State Board of Accounts Form 
236 required in I.C. 35-44-1-3, and the disclosure is approved by vote of the Board 
before the Board vote on the contract or purchase. 
 
A Board member may participate in the discussion but shall not vote on the 
acceptance of their disclosure or vote on the contract or purchase addressed by their 
disclosure.   
 
For the purpose of this policy the terms “pecuniary interest” and “profit” have the 
meaning given to those terms in I.C. 35-44.1-1-4. 
 
Reporting Violations and Whistleblower Protection 
 
The Board is committed to protection of persons reporting violations, i.e., 
“whistleblowers”.  Specific protection is addressed for all employees for 
administrators in Policy 1411, for professional staff members (all certificated 
employees who are not administrators) in Policy 3211ACS, and for support staff in 
Policy 4211. 
 
Reports by contractors and their employees are protected by this policy. 
 
A contractor or an employee of a contractor, hereafter an “employee/contractor”, 
who is aware of acts by a Board member, employee, or another employee/contractor 
that who possibly violates Federal or Indiana law or Board policy shall report this 
conduct to his/her immediate supervisor.  If the employee's immediate supervisor is 
not responsive or the supervisor is the person whose behavior is in question, the 
employee/contractor shall report the possible violation to the Superintendent.  If the 
reported conduct relates to the Superintendent, the report shall be filed directly with 
the Board President. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES FINANCES 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 6460/page 2 of 2 
 
 
 
If a violation of law or Board policy is reported, the employee/contractor will be 
directed to put the report in writing.  An employee/contractor making such a report 
in writing and his/her spouse and dependents, shall be protected from retaliation 
for making a report pursuant to this policy if the employee/contractor had a good 
faith belief at the time the report was made that the information reported was true. 

 
Sanctions and Debarment of Contractors 
 
Contractors are subject to sanctions including debarment.  As used here, 
"debarment" means exclusion from eligibility for future consideration for a specific or 
indeterminate period, or cancellation of the current contract or relationship upon a 
finding by the Board that the greater weight of the credible information available to 
the Board demonstrates that the contractor knowingly violated a law, Board policy, 
or made a false report under this policy.  Contractors may also be subject to 
debarment if they knew of a violation of law or Board policy involving or related to 
the business of the Board but did not make a report confirmed in writing to a 
supervisor in accordance with this policy. 
 
 
 
I.C. 5-22-7-8 (responsible and responsive) 
I.C. 22-5-3-3 (employees of contractors) 
I.C. 35-44.1-1-4 (conflict of interest) 
 
 
 
© NEOLA 2011 
 
January 1, 2017March 12, 2019 



What is the 

title of the 

grant?

What is the 

name of the 

granting 

agency/

entity?

Please list 

school/entity 

applying.

Individual/

contact applying 

for the grant?

What is the 

amount

applied for?

How will the grant funds be used 

and who will oversee the 

management of the grant?

Please explain how the grant funds will be 

used to support the district vision, focus, and 

goals. 

Please outline the grant budget for 

the funds requested.

What is the 

grant submission 

deadline?

Food and 

Clothes Pantry

Walmart 

Community 

Grants

Memorial Julie Tyrakowski $5,000 The funds will be used to keep our 

food, clothes, and toiletries pantry 

full throughout the year, offering 

food for students who missed a 

meal and provide for 

weekend/holiday food for students 

in need. It is especially 

needed/used during testing 

windows to ensure all students 

have had a meal before testing. 

Julie oversees the needs and 

inventory of the supplies and will 

work with Darlene Ballard in 

overseeing the 

balance/expenditures.

It aligns with the vision and goal of ECS, 

particularly “Every student is known by name” 

in the regard that we will know their individual 

needs. Sometimes those are food and 

resource insecurities. 

The budget is based on needs as they 

arise. $3500 will go to food. $1000 to 

toiletries and $500 to clothing needs.

4/1/2019

PY 2019 Adult 

Education Grant 

Continuation

Indiana 

Department of 

Workforce 

Development

Adult Education Darcey Mitschelen $428,463.65 Funds will be utilized to provide 

Adult Basic Education, English 

Language, Literacy, and 

Citizenship classes in addition to 

Integrated Education and Training 

opportunities. Darcey Mitschelen 

will oversee the grant.

Why Elkhart? The Website states that ECS 

provides "Comprehensive support for students 

and families inside and outside the classroom". 

Adult Education brings to the discussion 

access to academic opportunities, community 

resources (through The HUB), and connectors 

to employment and training. These efforts help 

take down the many barriers to success that 

are standing in the way of our families moving 

forward in an environment that is Inspiring. 

Excellence.

$385,617 programming/instruction $42,846 

administrative/supportive (As allowed by 

DWD)

4/1/2019

Page 1 of 1



















 

INTERNAL MEMO 

 
J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

2720 California Road • Elkhart, IN 46514 

 

 

 

 

To:   Dr. Steven Thalheimer 

From:  Ms. Cheryl Waggoner 

Date:  March 12, 2019 

 

Personnel Recommendations 

 

CERTIFIED 

 

a. New Certified Staff – We recommend the following new certified staff for employment in the 

2018-19 school year: 

 

Kristi Zentz    Roosevelt/Intervention 

 

 

b. Agreement – We recommend the approval of an agreement regarding unpaid time. 

 

 

c. Personal Leave – We recommend a personal leave for the following employees: 

 

Julie DeWit    Pinewood/Kindergarten 

Begin:  8/13/19    End:  6/3/20 

 

Emma Dugger    Pinewood/Kindergarten 

Begin:  8/13/19    End:   6/3/20 

 

Kaleigh Estrup    Riverview/Grade 1 

Begin:  8/13/19    End:  6/3/20 

 

Brianna Tribbett   Cleveland/Grade 6 

Begin:  8/13/19    End:  6/3/20 

 

 

d. Resignation – We report the resignation of the following employees: 

 

Heather Bechtel   Woodland/Grade 3 

Began:  8/23/12    Resign:  6/6/19 

 

Rhiannon Harrison   Central/Assist Principal 

Began:  9/3/02    Resign:  3/4/19 

 

W. Douglas  Hunnings   Riverview/Grade 4 

Began:  8/11/08    Resign:  6/6/19 

 

 



 
 

Page 2 of 3 
 

Anh Oyer    Bristol/Grade 3 

Began:  8/13/14    Resign:  6/6/19 

 

Kathryn Roberts   Feeser/Grade 3 

Began:  1/7/19    Resign:  6/6/19 

 

 

 

 
CLASSIFIED 

 

 

a. New Hires – We recommend regular employment of the following employees: 

 

Jill Brenneman   Hawthorne/Permanent Substitute 

Began: 12/17/18   PE: 2/28/19 

 

Jovon Deal    Beardsley/Campus Security 

Began: 1/7/19    PE: 3/7/19 

 

Brian Hunt    Transportation/Mechanic 

Began: 1/2/19    PE: 3/4/19 

 

Leydi Jurado Canenguez  Hawthorne/Paraprofessional  

Began: 12/17/18   PE: 2/28/19 

 

Jasmin Martinez   Monger/Paraprofessional 

Began: 1/7/19    PE: 3/7/19 

 

Toni Miller    Bristol/Paraprofessional 

Began: 12/17/18   PE: 2/28/19 

 

Norma Rivas Canenguez  Pierre Moran/Secretary 

Began: 1/7/19    PE: 3/7/19 

  

Jermaine Rogers   Beardsley/Technical Assistant 

Began: 1/7/19    PE: 3/7/19 

 

Alysa Shultz    Osolo/Paraprofessional 

Began: 1/9/19    PE: 3/11/19 

 

Ash-Lee Townsend   Tipton/Paraprofessional 

Began: 1/8/19    PE: 3/8/19 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

Page 3 of 3 
 

b. Resignation – We report the resignation of the following employees: 

 

Betty Beadin    Memorial/Custodian 

Began: 6/9/14    Resign: 4/29/19    

 

Jalethia Black    Osolo/Food Service 

Began: 8/20/18    Resign: 2/26/19 

 

Joshua Tolbert    Memorial/Food Service 

Began: 10/15/18   Resign: 3/1/19 

 

 

c. Retirement – We report the retirement of the following employees:   

Jeffery Corpe    Building Services/Supervisor 

Began: 2/4/04    Retire: 4/12/19    

     15 Years of Service 

 

Lois Keisling    Beardsley/Registered Nurse 

Began: 2/9/87    Retire: 6/6/19 

     32 Years of Service 

            

 

d. Unpaid Leave Request  – We recommend an unpaid leave of the following employees: 

 

Kayla Brookshire   Memorial/Paraprofessional 

Begin: 4/26/19    End:  6/7/19 

 

Clara Hendrix    Transportation/Bus Helper 

Began: 2/11/19    End:  6/7/19 

  
 

e. Termination – We report the termination of the following employee: 

 

Melissa White    Central/Food Service 

Began: 9/17/18    End: 2/21/19 

     Policy 3139.01S 

 

 

 


	Agenda
	Minutes - Public Work Session Retreat February 21 2019
	Minutes - Public Work Session Retreat February 22 2019
	Minutes - Regular Meeting  - February 26 2019
	Gift Acceptance - Central
	Gift Acceptance - EACC
	Gift Acceptance - Memorial
	Fundraisers
	Extra Curricular Purchase Request
	Recommendation for Award Revised
	High Ability Memo
	Board Policy 3422.12S
	Board Policy 3422.06S
	Board Policy 3141ACS - 1st
	Administrative Regulation GCS
	Administrative Reg IGBB 1st
	Board Policy 6460 1st
	Grants
	Overnight Trip Request
	Conference Leave Requests - Perkins
	Conference Leave Requests
	Personnel Report

